Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-28-2017

Medical Recovery Services v. Neumeier Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44836

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Medical Recovery Services, LLC. sued defendant, Jared Neumeier, for the payment of a medical bill that was nearly two years and six months past due. Jared Neumeier's defense was that he never got a copy of the bill and that he had insurance that would pay for the bill. The Magistrate Court agreed with this argument on summary judgment concluding that the fact Jared Neumeier had insurance and did not receive a bill before being sued meant that Jared Neumeier acted "objectively reasonably" in not paying the bill. Moreover, since the insurer paid 100% of the bill after the lawsuit was filed, Medical Recovery Services, LLC. did not recover an affirmative judgment thereby making Jared Neumeier the prevailing party entitled to costs and attorney's fees.

On appeal, the District Court went in a totally different direction than the Magistrate Court. The District Court held that a patient owes a medical provider nothing until the amount he owes becomes "determinable." The bill for a patient who has insurance becomes "determinable" only after the medical insurer pays all or part of the bill. Therefore, given that Jared Neumeier's medical insurer paid 100% of the amount sought in the lawsuit (albeit nearly three months after the lawsuit was filed), Jared Neumeier owed nothing to the medical provider at the time of summary judgment making summary judgment in favor of Neumeier proper. Moreover, since Medical Recovery Services, LLC. was not entitled to any affirmative judgment, it was not the prevailing party and could not recover any prejudgment interest. In fact, Jared Neumeier was the prevailing party entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

Page 3 of 28

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 30, 2012, the defendant, Jared Neumeier, ("Neumeier"), received medical services from Dr. Eric Baird at which time Neumeier provided Dr. Baird with "insurance information." For some unknown reason, whether Neumeier's "insurance information" was incomplete, illegible, did not provide coverage, or whether Dr. Baird's billing staff made an error, Dr. Baird did not use Neumeier's "insurance information" that Neumeier provided on November 30, 2012. Neumeier does not ever explain the nature of the "insurance information" he provided Dr. Baird; therefore, the record is undeveloped whether that was an insurance card, information on a sign in sheet, just the name "Blue Shield," or whether Neumeier even provided correct and legible policy and/or group numbers.³

Dr. Baird's office sent demand letters for payment to Neumeier at the wrong address⁴ until April 4, 2014 when Dr. Baird stopped sending letters and turned the account to MRS for collections.⁵ Medical Recovery Services, LLC., ("MRS"), sent collection letters to the wrong address for Neumeier until April 27, 2015, when MRS obtained the correct address and sent Neumeier a 10-day demand letter that he admits he received.⁶ That collection letter told Neumeier he had a delinquent account and 10 days to respond.⁷ Because Neumeier was on vacation, he did not open the letter until May 16, 2015, a Saturday.⁸

¹ R Vol. I, p. 19.

² R Vol. I, p. 19.

³ R Vol. I, pp. 18-20 and 106-110.

⁴ Neumeier's correct address was 3059 *Skyview* Drive, but the letters went to 3059 *Skyline* Drive.

⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 19 and 71.

⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 19 and 71.

⁷ R Vol. I, p. 72.

⁸ R Vol. I, pp. 107, 108 and 109.

On Monday May 18, 2015, instead of contacting MRS in response to the collection letter, Neumeier contacted Dr. Baird's office who told Neumeier his account had already gone to MRS for collections. According to Neumeier, not until the next day on May 19, 2015 did Neumeier contact MRS who told him that it was "too late." Unfortunately, Neumeier did not contact MRS on May 18, 2015 because MRS has a policy to put an "insurance hold" on an account if a person contacts MRS while awaiting insurance payments. In other words, if Neumeier had contacted MRS on May 18, 2015 before the Complaint was filed at 4:01 p.m., MRS would not have filed suit but would have put the account on hold while awaiting his insurance payment. Instead, having not received a response from Neumeier, MRS sent the account on May 14, 2015 to its attorneys who filed the Complaint in this matter on May 18, 2015 at 4:01 p.m.

The Complaint sought the principle amount of \$958.63 plus statutory prejudgment interest of \$282.39, attorney's fees and costs. ¹⁴ After MRS served the Complaint on Neumeier, Neumeier disclosed that he had insurance to cover the bill. ¹⁵ Dr. Baird's office billed the insurance and received payment in full three months later on August 27, 2015. ¹⁶ The record and specifically the Affidavits of Neumeier contain no evidence that the nondescript "insurance

⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 108 and 109.

¹⁰ R Vol. I, pp. 108 and 109.

¹¹ R Vol. I, p. 72.

¹² R Vol. I, p. 72.

¹³ R Vol. I, pp. 8, 35, 72, 108, and 109.

¹⁴ R Vol. I, p. 9.

¹⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 19 and 22.

¹⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 19 and 35.

information" that lead to the payment on or about August 27, 2015 was the same "insurance information" Neumeier provided nearly three years earlier on November 30, 2012.¹⁷

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On September 25, 2015, and after the principle amount was paid, Neumeier made a motion to dismiss, ¹⁸ and MRS objected to the motion. ¹⁹ The Magistrate Court ultimately converted the motion to dismiss and MRS' opposition to the motion to dismiss as cross motions for summary judgment in which both parties sought judgment in their favor. ²⁰

On November 23, 2015, the Magistrate Court granted summary judgment in favor of Neumeier finding that "[w]hether it is a zero dollar summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff or summary judgment in favor of Neumeier the net result is in favor of Neumeier." The Magistrate Court also made the erroneous finding that the "defendant was prevented from paying the bill by operation of the provider's failures," meaning that the provider did not bill Neumeier's insurance properly or send billings to the proper address. The Magistrate Court concluded that if Neumeier "had not had insurance the Court would have found that his failure to pay [for nearly three years] was not objectively reasonable; with insurance the Court can conclude that it was."

¹⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 18-20 and 106-110.

¹⁸ R Vol. I, pp. 15-17.

¹⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 17-33.

²⁰ R Vol. I, pp. 47-52.

²¹ R Vol. I, p. 52.

²² R Vol. I, p. 51.

²³ R Vol. I, p. 51.

²⁴ R Vol. I, p. 52.

On November 23, 2015, the Magistrate Court also entered judgment in favor of Neumeier, ²⁵ and the Magistrate Court awarded Neumeier attorney's fees and costs. ²⁶

On December 9, 2015, MRS moved to Set Aside Judgment on the grounds that the Magistrate Court had not decided the issue of prejudgment interest.²⁷

On December 29, 2015, the Magistrate Court set aside the judgment and allowed the parties to file supplemental briefing on the issue of statutory prejudgment interest pursuant to I.C. §18-22-104.²⁸

On February 22, 2016, the Magistrate Court denied MRS' motion for prejudgment interest stating that "[i]nterest is calculated on a percentage of the amount owed and not the amount claimed in the complaint." The Magistrate Court again awarded additional attorney's fees and costs to Neumeier. 30

On March 3, 2016, the Magistrate Court entered judgment in favor of Neumeier awarding Neumeier costs and attorney's fees.³¹

On March 17, 2016, MRS filed a timely motion for reconsideration on the grounds that

(1) the Magistrate Court had raised issues previously that MRS may not have had an assignment that allowed MRS to step in the shoes of the provider; and (2) Neumeier's failure to receive

²⁵ R Vol. I, p. 46.

²⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 46 and 52.

²⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 65-70.

²⁸ R Vol. I, p. 99.

²⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 127-131.

³⁰ R Vol. I, p. 130.

³¹ R Vol. I, pp. 143-144.

billing statements was not a defense to the underlying obligation to pay for the services received.³²

On April 29, 2016, the Magistrate Court denied the motion for reconsideration concluding that (1) MRS did have a proper assignment for the lawsuit; (2) Neumeier's receipt of billings is not the issue because Neumeier owed MRS nothing at the time of summary judgment; and (3) Neumeier acted reasonably under the circumstances.

On May 6, 2016, MRS filed a Notice of Appeal.³³

On May 9, 2016, the Magistrate Court entered a First Amended Judgment awarding Neumeier additional attorney's fees totaling \$6,958.00 and costs of \$138.00.³⁴

On May 11, 2016, MRS filed a timely Amended Notice of Appeal. 35

On December 13, 2016, the District Court entered its Opinion and Order On Appeal affirming the Magistrate Court.³⁶ The District Court reasoned that a patient owes the medical provider nothing until the amount he owes becomes "determinable."³⁷ The bill for a patient who has insurance becomes "determinable" only after the medical insurer pays all or part of the bill.³⁸ Therefore, given that Neumeier's medical insurer paid 100% of the amount sought in this lawsuit (albeit nearly three months after MRS filed the lawsuit), Neumeier owed nothing to the medical provider at the time of summary judgment making summary judgment in favor of

³² R Vol. I, pp. 151-158.

³³ R Vol. I, pp. 180-182.

³⁴ R Vol. I, pp. 183-184.

³⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 190-192.

³⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 75-81.

³⁷ R Vol. I, p. 79.

³⁸ R Vol. I, p. 79.

Neumeier proper.³⁹ Since MRS was not entitled to any judgment, MRS was not a prevailing party and could not recover any prejudgment interest.⁴⁰

In essence, the District Court ruled that in all cases involving medical debt, a medical insurer's payment on or toward a medical charge is a condition precedent to the patient's duty to pay the medical provider.

On January 4, 2017, the District Court entered an Order awarding Neumeier \$5,361.75 for attorney's fees on appeal.⁴¹

On January 20, 2017, MRS filed a timely Notice of Appeal.⁴²

١.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. <u>DID THE DISTRICT COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DETERMINED</u> THAT NEUMEIER PREVAILED ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT?
- B. <u>DID THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S FINDING THAT NEUMEIER WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY?</u>
- C. <u>DID THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S FINDING THAT MRS SHOULD BE AWARDED NO PREJUDGMENT INTEREST?</u>
- D. <u>IS MRS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER I.C.</u> 12-120(1), (3) AND (5) AND I.A.R. 40 AND 41?

³⁹ R Vol. I, p. 79.

⁴⁰ R Vol. I, pp. 79-81.

⁴¹ R Vol. I, pp. 302-303.

⁴² R Vol. I, pp. 305-307.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing the decision of a district court sitting in its capacity as an appellate court:

[t]he Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. *Bailey v. Bailey*, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012) (quoting *Losser v. Bradstreet*, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008))."

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC., v. MacDonald, Docket No. 43346, 2017 WL 2376426, at *1, *2 (Idaho June 1, 2019).

"Thus, this Court does not review the decision of the magistrate court." *Pelayo v. Pelayo*, 154 Idaho 855, 859 (2013). "Rather, we [this Court] are 'procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Korn*, 148 Idaho 413, 415 n.1 (2009)).

A. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT NEUMEIER PREVAILED ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

"A condition precedent is an event not certain to occur, but which must occur, before performance under a contract becomes due." *Dengler v. Hazel Blessinger Family Trust*, 141 Idaho 123, 128 (2005). "A condition precedent may be expressed in the parties' agreement, implied in fact from the conduct of the parties, or implied in law (constructive) where the courts 'construct' a condition for the purpose of attaining a just result." *Weisel v. Beaver Springs Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 519, 528 (2011).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

The District Court held that Neumeier prevailed on summary judgment because at the time of summary judgment Neumeier owed nothing on his bill ignoring the fact that Neumeier owed the provider at the time MRS filed the Complaint. The District Court reasoned that in the context of medical patients with insurance, a patient owes nothing on his bill until the insurer pays and the amount due and owing becomes determinable. In other words, according to the District Court, before Neumeier's performance under his contract with the medical provider became due, Neumeier's medical insurer first needed to pay on the medical claim. This is a condition precedent the District Court applied because it involves an event that must occur before performance under a contract becomes due. However, there is no evidence that the parties' agreement expressed such a condition precedent nor can such a condition precedent be implied in fact from the conduct of the parties or in law by the court for the purpose of attaining a just result.

1. No Evidence Exists That The Parties Intended The Condition Precedent
The District Court Applied To The Contract Between The Parties.

Here, the record contains no written contract between the parties. Nor does the record contain any evidence of any oral contract between the parties. Therefore, the District Court could not have applied the condition precedent as an express term of a contract between the parties. And the only evidence on appeal of the conduct of the parties regarding contract formation is found in the Affidavit of Jared Neumeier that states, "On or about November 30, 2012, I went in to Dr. Eric Baird's office to get a colonoscopy. I provided my Blue Cross of Idaho insurance information, was seen by Dr. Baird, and then left his office." Nothing in this

⁴³ R Vol. I, p. 19.

statement demonstrates conduct of the parties that gives rise to the condition precedent that the District Court applied in this case.

2. The District Court Wrongly Constructed An Implied In Law Condition
Precedent Because The Condition Precedent Is Not Necessary To Attain A
Just Result.

Although the District Court applied an implied in law condition that people with medical insurance owe nothing on their bill until their medical insurer pays, the District Court provided no explanation and no legal authority why implying such a condition is necessary to obtain a just result. To the contrary, the District Court's position yields a very unjust result in this case.

Neumeier saw Dr. Baird on November 30, 2012 for a colonoscopy—something most people (particularly men) do not forget that they underwent. The record shows that Neumeier received Explanation of Benefit ("EOB") forms from his medical insurer yet never received an EOB for his November 30, 2012 procedure until after MRS sued Neumeier. This means that between November 30, 2012 and May 18, 2015—two and one half years—Neumeier did nothing to follow up with his provider or medical insurer to find out why he had never received a bill or an EOB for his procedure. Neumeier did schedule and take a two week Disney Panama Canal Cruise, but did nothing to find out why his doctor never billed him or why he never got an EOB from his medical insurer. At any time during this two and one half year period, Neumeier could have contacted the provider and asked why he had never gotten a bill or he could have called his medical insurer and asked why he had never gotten an EOB related to a procedure he never paid for or his medical insurer never paid for. Instead, he did neither and now asks the court to impose a condition as a matter of law for the purpose of giving him a "just" result.

⁴⁴ R Vol. I, p. 22.

Moreover, On April 27, 2015, MRS sent Neumeier a 10-day demand letter after obtaining Neumeier's correct address. That collection letter told Neumeier he had a delinquent account and 10 days to respond. Because Neumeier was on vacation he did not open the letter until May 16, 2015, a Saturday. However, on Monday May 18, 2015, instead of contacting MRS in response to the collection letter MRS had sent him, Neumeier contacted Dr. Baird's office who told Neumeier his account had already gone to MRS for collections. According to Neumeier, not until the next day on May 19, 2015 did Neumeier contact MRS who told him that it was too late. If Neumeier had contacted MRS on Monday May 18, 2015 before MRS filed the Complaint at 4:01 p.m. and told MRS he had insurance, MRS would not have filed suit but would have put the account on hold while awaiting his insurance payment. MRS has a policy to put an insurance hold on an account if a person contacts MRS while awaiting insurance payments. Thus, even assuming billing and/or mailing errors by the provider, if Neumeier would have responded to MRS when he had the opportunity, MRS would not have sued him.

3. The District Court's Analysis Is Based On A Faulty Characterization of the Facts.

The District Court stated the following in its Decision:

In this case, no party disputes that once the procedure was performed, the charges were subject to at least two adjustments before any amount could be considered due and owing. First, where Neumeier had medical insurance, the charge

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL

Page 13 of 28

F:\CLIENTS\BDS\Collections\MRS\Files\7341.12740\Pleadings\170703 Appellant's Brief On Appeal.docx

⁴⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 19 and 71.

⁴⁶ R Vol. I, p. 72.

⁴⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 107, 108 and 109.

⁴⁸ R Vol. I, pp. 108 and 109.

⁴⁹ R Vol. I, pp. 108 and 109.

⁵⁰ R Vol. I, p. 72.

⁵¹ R Vol. I, p. 72.

was subject to a contractual adjustment for the benefit of Neumeier and his insurer. Second, the charge would be reduced by payments made by the insurer after the contractual adjustment.⁵²

MRS disputes "that once the procedure was performed, the charges were subject to at least two adjustments before any amount could be considered due and owing." The charge was for \$1,092.00. Pursuant to a contract between the medical insurer and the provider, this charge was "adjusted" down by \$665.41. his is known as a "contractual adjustment." The balance after this contractual adjustment is the amount Neumeier was required to pay either himself or by his medical insurer if he had coverage for the procedure. But a third party's paying the balance is not an "adjustment," it is a payment made in behalf of the person owing the balance. And the amount Neumeier owed the provider was considered "due and owing" before the medical insurer made the payment. Neumeier actually owed the balance after he had the procedure, and the provider was willing to accept payment from Neumeier, his medical insurer, or anyone willing to pay it in his behalf. Neumeier's balance was not due and owing as the District Court claims only after a third party paid the balance for him. In other words, the District Court is wrong saying that the patient never owed any amounts the insurance company pays.

4. <u>The District Court's Rule Is Contrary To Sound Reasoning And Sound</u> Public Policy.

The District Court's rule has the potential of leaving health care providers without a remedy. For example, assume that a patient gets sued on a medical bill, and his defense is that

⁵² R Vol. i, p. 79.

⁵³ R Vol. I. p. 22.

⁵⁴ R Vol. I, p. 22.

he has no obligation to pay because his medical insurer is supposed to pay the bill 100%. The medical insurer refuses to pay claiming the patient did not pay his premiums or the procedure is not covered under the insurance contract. Under the District Court's rule, the health care provider is without a remedy because (1) no amount is due and owing from the patient until the medical insurer pays; and (2) the health care provider cannot pursue the medical insurer because they are not in privity with each other. No remedy.

Similarly, assume in the scenario above that the patient sues the medical insurer for breach of the insurance contract. The provider would need to wait for the outcome of that lawsuit before it could seek to collect from the patient because until that lawsuit is resolved through the courts, the health care provider would not know whether the charges would be reduced by payments made by the medical insurer. However, the health care provider must still pay its overhead during the two or three years the case is in litigation. Assume further that the patient and the medical insurer settled their case for a compromised sum that is much less than the total medical charges. Litigation between the health care provider and the patient might be necessary just to determine how much the settlement reduces the charges, if any.

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