Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-23-2017

Medical Recovery Services v. Neumeier Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44836

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

When reviewing the decision of a district court sitting in its capacity as an appellate court [t]he Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. Thus, this Court does not review the decision of the magistrate court. Rather, we are procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court.

<u>Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC. v. MacDonald</u>, 162 Idaho 228, 395 P.3d 1261, 1264 (2017) (internal citation omitted).

B. This Court should affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure, because the district court merely affirmed the magistrate court's conclusions of law which followed from supported findings of fact.

In its opening brief on appeal to the district court, MRS did not challenge the magistrate court's decision to grant summary judgment to Neumeier. (See R., p. 220). At that point, MRS waived any challenge to the magistrate court's decision on summary judgment. KEB Enterprises, L.P. v. Smedley, 140 Idaho 746, 752, 101 P.3d

690 (2004) ("This Court's longstanding rule is that it will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal.").

Nevertheless, summary judgment for Neumeier was proper. Neumeier did not owe or pay the amount claimed in the Complaint. (R., p. 9). He owed nothing, due to an insurance payment and a write-off. Importantly, MRS recognized that when it requested summary judgment for \$0. (R., p. 33). The magistrate court correctly determined that "If there is no legal obligation to pay the debt; then the plaintiff's case fails." (R., p. 51). There was "no genuine issue" as to the only material fact—that Neumeier owed nothing—and was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. I.R.C.P. 56(c).

Therefore, the trial court record contains substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of facts concerning the lack of a genuine issue of material fact on summary judgment—that Neumeier owed nothing. The magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings, and the District Court properly affirmed the magistrate. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court as a matter of procedure.

1. The District Court's holding that insurance must be billed before an amount could be considered due and owing was sound.

The District Court's written decision never found a "condition precedent" or "implied in law condition," as the Appellant suggests. What it did find was that there was no dispute between the parties that, "once the procedure was performed, the charges

were subject to at least two adjustments before any amount could be considered due and owing." (R., p. 282). The Court explained:

First, where Neumeier had medical insurance, the charge was subject to a contractual adjustment for the benefit of Neumeier and his insurer. Second, the charge would be reduced by payments made by the insurer after the contractual adjustment. Only then, could an amount due and owing by Neumeier be determined.

As it turned out, once the provider finally billed the procedure, the charges were adjusted, the provider received payment from the insurer, and the balance was deemed so insignificant that the provider waived the balance.

(Id.)

The District Court's decision was based on common knowledge and common sense. Insurance companies contract with medical providers to determine an agreed-upon price for specific services. Individuals contract with insurance companies to get access to adjusted prices for services and then to have the insurance company pay a certain portion of that adjusted price. Even the most sophisticated individual often has no way of knowing what the actual amount of a copayment will be until the medical provider's charges are submitted to and processed by the patient's insurance for contractual adjustments and payments, and an adjusted bill is issued to the patient. Just like any patient, Neumeier expected this process to occur when he gave his insurance information to his doctor.

But due to a series of errors on the part of Dr. Baird and MRS, this process never occurred until *after* suit was filed. By that time, there was nothing actually due and

owing. The magistrate court found no breach on the part of Neumeier to pay the provider (R., p. 120), and the District Court correctly affirmed. (R., p. 282).

Because the magistrate court found the actual adjustments and payments by insurance and Dr. Baird led to an amount owing of zero, the District Court determined the magistrate had correctly granted summary judgment to Neumeier. MRS has failed to show why the District Court was in error in this regard.

2. The result in this case is a just result, because it rectifies mistakes by Dr. Baird and MRS.

The result in favor of Neumeier was not "unjust," as suggested by MRS. Neumeier did nothing to bring MRS's litigation upon him.

MRS argues, essentially, that it was Neumeier's responsibility to review his Explanation of Benefits to ensure that his insurance was billed, and also Neumeier's responsibility to ensure that he received a bill. MRS's argument is not consistent with reality. Neumeier provided his insurance information to Dr. Baird's office for that very purpose—so that his insurance could be billed and he would receive a bill for the balance. How was Neumeier to know that there was a bill for his November 2012 colonoscopy if he never received one? It was more reasonable for Neumeier to expect his insurance had paid the entire balance.

Furthermore, MRS argues that if Neumeier had contacted MRS only one day earlier he would not have been sued. This is nothing but a deflection of responsibility. Neumeier's response after receiving MRS's letter—the first

correspondence concerning his colonoscopy that happened two and a half years earlier—was entirely reasonable. He had never heard of MRS and thought it was a scam, so he contacted his doctor.

It is important to note here that MRS sent its initial demand letter on April 4, 2014, but to the wrong address. (R., p. 269). Over one year later on April 27, 2015, MRS finally sent one, solitary demand and draft complaint to the correct address, which Neumeier received only two days before suit was filed.

Nothing was unjust in the magistrate court granting summary judgment to Neumeier.

3. The District Court's decision is consistent with sound reasoning and sound public policy.

MRS's multiple hypotheticals regarding public policy only serve to gloss over the particular facts in this case. Neumeier never tried to avoid a bill, and did not "strategically" wait until after suit was filed to pay any amount or discover the insurance and address errors of Dr. Baird and MRS. He simply never knew about any bill. When he finally became aware of a bill he acted promptly to rectify the problem, but it was already too late. (R., p. 99).

Furthermore, as a matter of public policy, it is better for medical service providers to be held accountable for responsible billing practices. Individuals contract with health insurance companies specifically to adjust and pay portions of medical expenses. Medical billing is a complex field full of codes, adjustments, and varying

insurance contracts. Patients expect medical providers to competently bill valid insurance for their services if insurance is provided. They also properly expect medical providers and collection companies to send insurance-adjusted bills to the proper address, with adequate notice. None of this is unreasonable.

When medical providers fail to file insurance claims, send bills to the wrong address, and then the collection company compounds the problem by sending only one notice to the right address less than thirty (30) days before suing, the patient simply should not bear the burden of their mistakes. It is much better public policy to protect innocent consumers from the billing mistakes of other parties.

C. The magistrate court's decision that Neumeier was the prevailing party is supported by substantial and competent evidence, as Neumeier owed nothing to MRS.

The magistrate court determined that Neumeier was the prevailing party:

Deciding who is the prevailing party is committed to the discretion of the court. Pursuant to <u>Eighteen Mile Ranch v. Nord Excavating</u>, 141 Idaho 716, 117 P.3d 130 (2005), the court is to consider the final judgment or result of the action in relation to the relief sought. In this case the defendant has prevailed. Whether it is a zero summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff or summary judgment in favor of the defendant the net result is in favor of the defendant.

(R., p. 52). As stated by the magistrate court, the determination of who is a prevailing party is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court. Houpt v. Wells Fargo Bank, Nat'l Assn., 160 Idaho 181, 193, 370 P.3d 384 (2016). The magistrate court recognized and perceived that the issue of prevailing party was one of discretion, and it acted within

that discretion by an exercise of reason. The record shows substantial and competent evidence for the magistrate court's decision, which the District Court affirmed. (R., p. 284).

<u>Magnin</u> based on California statute that is non-existent in Idaho law, but, most importantly, the facts are completely different. In <u>Joseph Magnin</u>, the debtor incurred a retail installment debt, and was not kept in the dark for over two years as to the existence of a debt. In sharp contrast to the present case, no insurance was involved to pay her debt upon being incurred. Furthermore, the debtor apparently had every opportunity to pay the debt prior to suit being filed, but waited until afterward, when she personally tendered payment. 89 Cal.App.3d Supp. 7, 152 Cal.Rptr. 523 (Sup. Ct. 1978).

Here, the facts could not be more different. Neumeier had no clue about the debt, and therefore had no opportunity to correct any error, until he opened his mailbox on a Saturday. Suit was filed two days later on a Monday. Once Neumeier figured out what had happened and called MRS, it was too late. What's more, in sharp contrast to <u>Joseph Magnin</u>, Neumeier has not paid MRS or Dr. Baird a dime as a result of this suit.

It was fully within the magistrate court's discretion to decide that Neumeier—who paid nothing under the Complaint—was the prevailing party. Appellant's hypotheticals ignore a myriad of factual, important distinctions to the present case. The judiciary is well-equipped to determine relevant matters of law as well as ferret RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 14

out bad faith actions of debtors. Based upon substantial and competent evidence, this Court should affirm the District Court on the issue of prevailing party.

D. The magistrate's decision to deny prejudgment interest is supported by the record because MRS received no judgment and there was no liquidated amount upon which to base an award of prejudgment interest.

Preliminarily, MRS is incorrect regarding the standard on the award or denial of prejudgment interest under Idaho Code § 28-22-104, which is reviewed "for an abuse of discretion," and not "free review," as suggested by MRS. <u>Taylor v. Maile</u>, 146 Idaho 705, 712, 201 P.3d 1282 (2009). <u>See also Ross v. Ross</u>, 145 Idaho 274, 277, 178 P.3d 639 (2007) ("Our inquiry in this case, therefore, is whether the district court abused its discretion in finding that Rick's damages were not liquidated or ascertainable by mathematical process."); <u>Dillon v. Montgomery</u>, 138 Idaho 614, 617, 67 P.3d 93 (2003) ("The standard of review for an award of prejudgment interest concerns an abuse of discretion."). There was no abuse of discretion when the magistrate court refused to award prejudgment interest to MRS after granting summary judgment to Neumeier.

1. <u>Prejudgment interest is not available where there is no judgment.</u>

First, prejudgment interest presupposes that a party has been awarded a judgment on the principal claim. A court cannot award prejudgment interest to a losing party. The District Court recognized this when it found that "[t]he magistrate did not err in concluding that since MRS received no judgment, it was not entitled to pre-judgment interest." (R., p. 283). This common-sense decision is supported by case law across the country. See Great West Cas. Co. v. Barnick, 542 N.W.2d 400, 402 (Minn. App. 1996) RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 15

(stating that, where there was no judgment in favor of the requesting party, there could not be any prejudgment interest awarded under the statute); see also Warrick v. Graffiti, Inc., 550 N.W.2d 303, 310 (Minn. App. 1996) (same); Frontier Pipeline, LLC v. Metropolitan Council, 2012 WL 2203016, at *3 (Minn. App. 2012) (same); Griffin v. Cutler, 339 P.3d 100, 107 (Utah App. 2014) (stating that "because we affirm the trial court's denial of those fees, Griffin has no judgment to accrue [prejudgment] interest in any event."); Iron Head Const. Inc. v. Gurney, 207 P.3d 1231, 1235 (Utah 2009) (stating that "we doubt whether a judicial award of prejudgment interest would ever be appropriate on a settlement amount stipulated to by the parties."); Winters v. Allen, 595 S.E.2d 813 (N.C. App. 2004) (finding that there was no judgment entered upon which prejudgment interest could attach).

As stated in Hollingshead v. Stanley Works Long Term Disability Plan, "Plaintiff has not provided any legal authority, and the Court has found no authority, that would support an award of prejudgment interest in the absence of a judgment. Because there is no judgment upon which a prejudgment interest award could be based, Plaintiff's request for prejudgment interest is denied." 2012 WL 6151994, *3 (D. Colo. 2012); see also Kane v. U-Haul Intern. Inc., 218 F. App'x 163, 169 (3rd Cir. 2007) ("As there was no judgment in this case, Appellant Kane cannot recover prejudgment interest."); Brien v. Equitable Assur. Soc. of the U.S., 2000 WL 329186, *3 (5th Cir. 2000) ("Finally, Brien complains that the district court failed to consider her claim for prejudgment interest. Because there was no judgment entered for Brien, the district court did not abuse its RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 16

discretion in failing to award Brien interest on a zero judgment."). MRS still has not shown that the District Court's decision in this regard was incorrect.

2. <u>Prejudgment interest is also not appropriate where the amount of liability is \$0, or is a moving target.</u>

Second, Neumeier paid nothing on MRS's claim. This is consistent with MRS's request for judgment of \$0, the magistrate court's statement that "any percentage of \$0 is still \$0" (R., p. 121), and the District Court's decision that "there was no liquidated amount owed which could be the basis of an award of pre-judgment interest." (R., p. 284). This is just as well, since if Dr. Baird had billed insurance and Dr. Baird and MRS had sent notice to the correct address, this lawsuit likely would never have happened.

MRS's attempt to conjure a number for prejudgment interest continues to assume that MRS could be awarded prejudgment interest without a judgment, that it should have been awarded prejudgment interest based upon an ever-changing and unliquidated medical bill amount not yet submitted to insurance for adjustments or payments, or that it could have been awarded pre-judgment interest on a judgment of \$0. MRS has provided no competent authority or facts to support any of these positions. To add to the confusion on MRS's claim, the prejudgment interest it claims it is entitled to in its Appellant's Brief on Appeal (\$114.86) is different than the amount it claimed on

appeal to the District Court (\$315.16) (see R. p. 225), or even the amount it requested on summary judgment, which was nothing.⁴ (R. p. 33).

The facts were clear to the magistrate court and District Court—that the amount owed by Neumeier was not known until the bill was processed by Neumeier's insurance, and by that time Dr. Baird had waived the copayment. Nothing was owed, and nothing was paid by Neumeier. It is regrettable that it took until after suit for this process to finally occur, but this was not Neumeier's fault.

3. <u>State Drywall</u> does not stand for MRS's argument that prejudgment interest can be awarded without a judgment on the merits.

MRS cites to a Nevada court case, <u>State Drywall, Inc. v. Rhodes Design & Development</u>, 127 P.3d 1082 (Nev. 2006), and claims that it supports MRS's failed argument that prejudgment interest should be awarded even if the Plaintiff does not receive a judgment on the merits. It does not.

The context of the case tells the whole story. In <u>State Drywall</u>, the subcontractor was not paid for part of the work on a housing development, and sued the general contractor. While the litigation was pending, the general contractor made two separate payments on the contract. The general contractor then made an offer of

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